FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
1/26/2022 1:30 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/26/2022
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 100599-7

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON No. 82119-9-I (consol. with No. 82161-0-I)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CITY OF BLACK DIAMOND and CAROL BENSON,

Petitioners,

v.

JANE KOLER/LAND USE & PROPERTY LAW, PLLC et al.,

Respondents.

CITY OF BLACK DIAMOND AND CAROL BENSON'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

PACIFICA LAW GROUP LLP Jessica A. Skelton, WSBA #36748 Sarah S. Washburn, WSBA #44418 1191 Second Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, Washington 98101 206-245-1700

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the Court of Appeals err in reversing the dismissal of Plaintiffs' claims where the Mayor had sole authority under chapter 35A.12 RCW and the BDMC to appoint a City Attorney, the City Council lacked statutory authority to contract for its own separate legal services, and the narrow

circumstances under which a city council has implied authority to hire separate counsel at city expense did not exist?

- 2. Did the Court of Appeals err in holding that, despite the BDMC's numerous references to the powers of the City Attorney and the City's longstanding custom and practice of the Mayor appointing a designated City Attorney, the Mayor lacked authority to appoint the City Attorney under RCW 35A.12.090 because the City Council had not passed a separate ordinance expressly and specifically establishing the office and describing exactly how it would be filled?
- 3. Did the Court of Appeals err in holding that attorneys retained by the Mayor were not appointive officers because their legal services agreements did not provide for a salary or a set term and were more consistent with RCW 35A.12.020's alternative method of obtaining legal advice through a reasonable contractual arrangement?
- 4. Did the Court of Appeals err in holding that the City Council had primary authority to contract for legal services, to

terminate attorneys appointed by the Mayor, and to retain or terminate counsel by resolution, and that the Mayor had no power to veto those decisions?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The City Is Governed by Title 35A RCW.

The City is a noncharter code city incorporated under the optional municipal code, Title 35A RCW. The City has adopted a mayor-council plan of government, whereby government is vested in an elected mayor and, at all times relevant here, an elected five-member council. *See* BDMC § 1.08.010; RCW 35A.12.010.

Title 35A RCW grants **mayors** "the power of appointment and removal of all appointive officers and employees" and requires council confirmation of such appointments only when required by charter or ordinance. RCW 35A.12.090. RCW 35A.12.020 identifies certain appointive officers, including a city clerk and a chief law enforcement officer, and requires code cities to obtain legal counsel by one of two means:

Provision shall be made for obtaining legal counsel for the city, either by appointment of a city attorney on a full-time or part-time basis, or by any reasonable contractual arrangement for such professional services.

The statute further provides that the "appointive officers shall be those provided for by charter or ordinance," and the authority, duties, qualifications, and compensation of those officers "shall be prescribed" by charter or ordinance. *Id*.

Elsewhere, however, Title 35A expressly contemplates situations where an appointive officer's qualifications are **not** prescribed in the city's ordinances or charter. In such cases, the mayor retains authority to appoint, but "[c]onfirmation of mayoral appointments by the council **may** be required." RCW 35A.12.090 (emphasis added). Similarly, the statute expressly contemplates that the term of an appointive office may be unspecified by the city's charter or ordinances, in which case such "[a]ppointive offices shall be without definite term." *Id*.

In turn, Title 35A grants **city councils** "the powers and authority granted to the legislative bodies of [code cities],"

including (among other things) the power to adopt and enforce ordinances. RCW 35A.12.190; RCW 35A.11.020. It further provides that such legislative bodies shall have "all powers possible for a city or town to have under the Constitution of this state, and not specifically denied to code cities by law." RCW 35A.11.020. RCW 35A.11.010 also provides that code cities, "by and through [their] legislative bod[ies]," may "contract and be contracted with."

B. The City Has Long Recognized and Filled by Mayoral Appointment the Office of City Attorney.

At all times relevant here, the City had a City Attorney, as extensively described and addressed in the BDMC. No fewer than 21 provisions of the BDMC referred to the office of the City Attorney including the specific powers and duties of that office.¹

¹ See BDMC §§ 1.12.010(C), (E)(7); 2.44.120; 2.62.019; 2.66.020, .050, .060; 8.02.020(D), .030, .210; 12.07.070(D); 13.04.045(D); 15.28.100(A), .110; 16.10.130(C); 17.20.010(H); 17.32.070(B); 18.66.020(A); 19.24.065(A)(2), .080(B), .130(C)(2).

Consistent with the BDMC's multiple express references to "the city attorney," the City has long procured legal counsel by hiring a City Attorney. The City's custom and practice was for the Mayor to appoint, and the City Council to confirm, the City Attorney. CP 547-48. The City would then enter a professional services agreement with the appointed City Attorney. See CP 215-26. For example, in 2014, the City hired Carol Morris as City Attorney through this process. *Id*.

C. Three Councilmembers Hire Plaintiffs Koler and Glenn During an Ongoing Power Struggle with the Mayor.

Beginning in 2016, a political dispute developed in the City regarding, inter alia, the respective roles of the City Council and Mayor in obtaining legal services for the City. CP 539. On one side of this issue were three of the five City Councilmembers—Pat Pepper, Erika Morgan, and Brian Weber—who initially became dissatisfied with City Attorney Morris' legal advice. CP 206, 539-40. On the other side were the

two remaining Councilmembers, Tamie Deady and Janie Edelman, aligned with Mayor Carol Benson. *Id*.

The Pepper/Morgan/Weber faction took the position that the Mayor lacked authority to hire or fire legal counsel for the City. This faction first passed a resolution purporting to terminate Morris as City Attorney. *See* CP 249, 540. Mayor Benson stamped the resolution "DENIED," noting "[t]he Council does not have authority to terminate contract legal services." CP 249. Morris ultimately resigned under duress, after which Mayor Benson selected David Linehan of the Kenyon Disend law firm ("Linehan") as City Attorney. CP 206-07, 349-61, 454-57, 540-41.

The Pepper/Morgan/Weber faction refused to confirm Linehan as City Attorney. Instead, it passed a series of resolutions purporting to discharge Linehan and hire other attorneys, including Plaintiffs Jane Koler of Land Use and Property Law, PLLC ("Koler") and Dan Glenn of Glenn & Associates, P.S. ("Glenn"). CP 40, 43-60, 81-82, 207, 251-52.

Mayor Benson informed Koler and Glenn that they were not the City Attorney and their contracts were invalid. CP 14, 82, 98, 208-09, 250, 284-85, 287, 542-43. Despite being told they would not be paid, Koler and Glenn—who viewed their client as the City Council—proceeded to render legal advice to the Pepper/Morgan/Weber faction. *See* CP 40, 96-98, 121-30, 154, 328-29, 379-81.

Given the Pepper/Morgan/Weber faction's refusal to confirm Linehan as City Attorney, Mayor Benson used her contract authority under the BDMC to execute several professional service agreements with Linehan's firm in 2017. CP 349-61; *see also* BDMC § 2.90.010(B) (authorizing Mayor, without further action by Council, to approve contracts in increments of \$15,000 for professional services if certain conditions are met).

D. The Council Majority Hires Separate Counsel to Sue the Mayor, But the Lawsuit Is Dismissed with Prejudice.

In August 2017, Councilmember Pepper executed a professional services agreement with Anne Bremner and the law firm of Frey Buck, P.S. ("Bremner"). CP 83-89, 545. The contract stated that Bremner would provide legal services "to the City Council" related to challenging Mayor Benson's authority. CP 89, 699. The Pepper/Morgan/Weber faction passed a resolution purporting to approve this contract, which Mayor Benson stamped "DENIED," noting "Council has no contracting authority." CP 90.

In October 2017, Bremner filed a lawsuit in King County Superior Court seeking declaratory and injunctive relief against Mayor Benson, purportedly on behalf of the City Council. CP 546. But in the November 2017 elections, voters replaced Councilmembers Morgan and Weber with candidates aligned

with Mayor Benson. CP 544, 604.² In January 2018, upon the newly elected Councilmembers taking office, the Council passed resolutions repudiating Koler and Glenn's contracts as invalid, repudiating and demanding dismissal of Bremner's lawsuit, and prohibiting payment of any City funds to Koler, Glenn, or Bremner. CP 270-71, 546-47, 643-45.

Bremner subsequently withdrew from the King County lawsuit. The claims against Mayor Benson were dismissed with prejudice, with no relief awarded. CP 533, 547.

E. The City Codifies Its Historical Process for Hiring the City Attorney.

In 2019, the City Council adopted legislation creating a new chapter of the BDMC, titled "City Attorney," the stated purpose of which is "to provide a clear, efficient, and effective process for retaining the services of a city attorney, consistent with past practice and the requirements of RCW 35A.12.020." CP 91-93; BDMC ch. 2.14. The 2019 ordinance clarifies that the

² Councilmember Pepper was recalled by City voters in early 2018. CP 281, 544-45.

City Attorney is selected by the Mayor and confirmed by the Council, consistent with the City's custom and practice. CP 92.

F. The Trial Court Dismisses Plaintiffs' Claims on Summary Judgment, But the Court of Appeals Reverses on Appeal.

Plaintiffs sued the City and Mayor in April 2019, alleging breach of contract arising from unpaid legal fees and also seeking declaratory and injunctive relief. CP 1-10. In November 2019, Koler filed summary judgment motions on behalf of herself and Glenn, seeking a declaration that their contracts were valid obligations of the City. CP 26-38, 141-52.

The trial court initially agreed with Koler and Glenn, relying on RCW 35A.11.010's language that a city may contract and be contracted with "by and through its legislative body." CP 388. But the City moved for reconsideration on the grounds that the Mayor has the power to appoint and remove all appointive officers under RCW 35A.12.090, and the City Attorney was a recognized office under the BDMC. CP 401-08. The trial court granted the City's motion, vacated its prior order, and denied

Koler and Glenn's summary judgment motions. CP 478-81. Acknowledging that "RCW 35A.12.090 specifically gives a mayor the authority to appoint city officers and employees," the trial court rejected Plaintiffs' argument that the Council was required to adopt a distinct ordinance describing the "authority, duties, and qualifications" of the City Attorney, as well as the process for obtaining the City Attorney, before the Mayor could appoint one. CP 479-80. The court also acknowledged that "the BDMC made numerous references to a city attorney's powers and duties." CP 480. Having determined that the Mayor had authority to appoint the City Attorney, the court ruled that whether Koler and Glenn met the narrow circumstances under which a city council may hire its own separate counsel at city expense under State v. Volkmer, 73 Wn. App. 89, 867 P.2d 678 (1994), was a question of fact precluding summary judgment in their favor. *Id*.

The City then moved for summary judgment dismissal of Plaintiffs' claims, arguing they had not established the City

Council had authority to hire separate counsel under *Volkmer*. CP 492-511.³ The trial court granted the City's motion, dismissed Plaintiffs' claims, and awarded the City fees and costs under the prevailing party fee provisions in Plaintiffs' contracts. CP 799-802, 1029-36.

The Court of Appeals reversed and remanded for further proceedings. *Koler/Land Use & Property Law, PLLC et al. v. City of Black Diamond*, __ Wn. App. __, 2021 WL 6112336 (Div. I Dec. 27, 2021) ("*Koler*"). First, the Court of Appeals held that the City Attorney was not an "appointive officer" at the relevant times because the City Council had not passed an ordinance explicitly creating the office. *Id.* at *4. The Court of Appeals further noted that none of the legal services agreements at issue provided for a salary or a term, which the Court deemed requirements of appointive offices. *Id.* The Court also

³ The City alternatively argued that Plaintiffs had violated the BDMC and express contractual requirements by failing to procure City business licenses. CP 510-11, 753-55. Neither the trial court nor the Court of Appeals reached this argument.

characterized the legal services agreements as "more consistent" with RCW 35A.12.020's contemplated alternative method of obtaining legal services through a "reasonable contractual arrangement for such professional services," rather than through appointment, *id.* at *5, even though nothing in the statutes precludes an appointive office from being filled by an outside contractor.

Second, the Court held that because the City Attorney was not an appointive office and the Council had "primary authority to enter into contracts on behalf of the City," the Pepper/Morgan/Weber faction had authority to terminate Linehan's agreement and, having done so, to hire Koler and Glenn. *Id.* at *5-6.⁴ Finally, the Court held that under *Volkmer* and related cases, the Council majority had authority to hire Bremner to challenge the Mayor's actions, and that the City may

⁴ As noted *supra*, Section IV.C, Koler and Glenn viewed their client as the **Council** and rendered advice to a faction of Councilmembers.

be liable for Bremner's fees on remand. *Id.* at *6-8. The City now seeks review by this Court.

V. GROUNDS FOR REVIEW

The Court of Appeals' hypertechnical read of one section of the optional municipal code, while ignoring the plain language of other applicable provisions, improperly interferes with the City's right to local self-government. *Koler* also vastly expands the circumstances under which factions of city government may hire their own separate legal counsel at city expense, by holding that counsel may recover fees incurred in lawsuits dismissed with prejudice. The decision not only encourages litigiousness when intragovernmental disputes arise, it also sows doubt as to the validity of any city office established without the formality *Koler* dictates. Many cities' codes likely would not pass Koler's hypertechnical test for establishing valid appointive offices. For these reasons, *Koler* raises a significant question of law under the Constitution, conflicts with this Court's and the Court of Appeals' precedent, and raises an issue of substantial public

importance. On any or all of these independent grounds, this Court should grant review. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4).

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision Conflicts with Constitutional Home Rule Principles.

Review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(3) because *Koler* raises a significant constitutional issue regarding local home rule authority. Home rule stands for the "presumption of autonomy in local governance...[and] seeks to increase government accountability by limiting state-level interference in local affairs." *Lakehaven Water & Sewer Dist. v. City of Federal Way*, 195 Wn.2d 742, 757, 466 P.3d 213 (2020) (quotation omitted). As expressed through multiple constitutional provisions, Washington has adopted local home rule principles.

First, article XI, section 10 of the Constitution provides for legislative incorporation, organization, and classification of cities and towns, and further provides a roadmap for citizens of medium-sized and large cities to adopt local home rule charters. Second, article XI, section 11 provides all cities and counties with strong local police (regulatory) powers: "Any county, city,

town or township may make and enforce within its limits all such local police, sanitary and other regulations as are not in conflict with general laws." "This provision, known as 'home rule,' presumes that local governments are autonomous." *Seven Hills, LLC v. Chelan Cnty.*, 198 Wn.2d 371, 385-86, 495 P.3d 778 (2021).

Third, article XI, section 12 is also "frequently called the 'home-rule provision." *Larson v. Seattle Popular Monorail Auth.*, 156 Wn.2d 752, 756 n.3, 131 P.3d 892 (2006). This Court has stated in discussing article XI, section 12: "It is not within the power of the Legislature to take from the people of counties, cities, and other municipal corporations the right of local self-government secured to them by our Constitution." *State v. Redd*, 166 Wash. 132, 139, 6 P.2d 619 (1932).

As noted above, the City is organized under the optional municipal code, Title 35A RCW. The stated purpose of Title 35A is to grant code cities "the broadest powers of local self-government consistent with the Constitution of this state." RCW

35A.01.010; see also RCW 35A.11.050 (stating similarly and requiring that Title 35A "be construed liberally in favor of such cities"). Title 35A's provisions "clearly embrace[] home rule principles," *Lakehaven*, 195 Wn.2d at 758, and vest code cities with "broad legislative powers limited only by the restriction that an enactment cannot contravene the constitution or directly conflict with a statute." *In re Ltd. Tax Gen. Obligation Bonds of City of Edmonds*, 162 Wn. App. 513, 525, 256 P.3d 1242 (2011); see also 1973 Op. Att'y Gen. No. 3, 1973 WL 153954, at *1 (similar).

Relevant here, although Title 35A states that the City's "appointive officers shall be those provided for by charter or ordinance," it also specifically states that "[p]rovision shall be made for obtaining legal counsel for the city, either by appointment of a city attorney on a full-time or part-time basis, or by any reasonable contractual arrangement for such professional services." RCW 35A.12.020. Consistent with home rule principles, these provisions leave broad discretion and

flexibility to code cities in how they might "provide for" an appointive city attorney office "by ordinance." Here, the City "provided for" the office of City Attorney by extensively describing and addressing the powers of the office in the BDMC. See, e.g., BDMC §§ 2.66.020(B) (legal defense of City officials "shall be provided by the office of the city attorney" unless an insurance policy requires otherwise or a conflict requires retention of outside counsel) (emphasis added); 8.02.020(D) ("the city attorney" or his/her designee serves as one of the City's code enforcement officers authorized to enforce City regulations) (emphasis added); 8.02.030 (authorizing "the city attorney" or his/her designee to file a violation of City regulations as a civil or criminal violation). Moreover, the City adopted these code provisions by ordinance. See, e.g., Ord. No. 09-898 (2009)⁵ (codified at BDMC §§ 1.12.010(C), 8.02.020(D),

⁵ Available at

http://www.oldblackdiamondwebsite.com/Depts/Clerk/Ordinances/2009/09-898.pdf.

8.02.030). Consistent with having created this appointive office by ordinance, the City's longstanding custom and practice was for the Mayor to appoint a City Attorney, who provided services under a contract rather than as an employee. State law requires nothing more.

Nevertheless, relying on a hypertechnical and restrictive reading of the optional municipal code, the Court of Appeals concluded that the only way the City may "provide for" the appointive office of City Attorney is to pass a separate ordinance expressly and specifically establishing or creating the office, describing exactly how it will be filled, and stating the term and salary. Koler, 2021 WL 6112336, at *4-5. In doing so, the Court dictated a specific process for "establishing" appointive offices, absent any such requirement in the Constitution or statutes and contrary to Title 35A's stated purpose to confer upon code cities "the broadest powers of local self-government consistent with the Constitution of this state." RCW 35A.01.010. Moreover, the process dictated in *Koler* ignores the plain language of RCW

35A.12.090, which specifically contemplates situations where the qualifications and term of an appointed office are **not** set forth in an adopted ordinance. By demanding a level of particularity and process not required under state law, the Court of Appeals' decision substantially undermines the constitutional principles of home rule underlying the optional municipal code. The Court should accept review of this important constitutional issue.

B. *Koler* Conflicts with Supreme Court and Court of Appeals Precedent.

Review is also warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) because the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with multiple decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals. Specifically, the Court of Appeals erred in holding that Bremner's trial court lawsuit was not dismissed on the merits and that Bremner may be entitled to fees despite dismissal of her suit with prejudice.

1. Koler conflicts with this Court's and the Court of Appeals' precedent regarding finality of dismissed cases.

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