FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/25/2022 9:20 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 100599-7

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 82119-9-I (consolidated with No. 82161-0-I)

JANE KOLER / LAND USE & PROPERTY LAW, PLLC et al.,

Respondents,

v.

CITY OF BLACK DIAMOND, et ano.,

Petitioners,

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW BY RESPONDENTS KOLER, GLENN, AND BREMNER

> DAVID CORBETT PLLC David J. Corbett, WSBA No. 30895 2106 N. Steele Street Tacoma, WA 98406 Telephone: (253) 414-5235 <u>david@davidcorbettlaw.com</u> Attorney for Respondents

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

III. ARGUMENT WHY THIS COURT SHOULD NOT ACCEPT REVIEW

1. Summary of the Argument.

The Petition for Review fails to identify any basis for this Court to grant discretionary review under RAP 13.4. *Koler* raises no significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington, since constitutional "home rule" principles are primarily concerned with endowing local governments with ample powers, not with how those powers are divided *within* any local government. As a correct and straightforward application

¹⁷ Koler and Glenn of course deny the claim that they intended to work only for the Council, not the City, and reserve all rights to present any and all factual and legal defenses to this claim in the trial court.

of the Optional Municipal Code to the facts existing in Black Diamond in 2017, the holdings of the Court of Appeals do not conflict with any prior decision by this Court or the Court of Appeals. Nor is there any issue of substantial public importance presented by this case. Accordingly, this Court should deny discretionary review.

2. *Koler* poses no danger to constitutional principles of home rule and does not raise a significant issue of constitutional law.

The City and Mayor's claim that *Koler* "improperly interferes with the City's right to local self government" does not succeed in raising any "significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington."¹⁸

It is widely recognized that "Washington State adopted a trio of home rule constitutional provisions in 1889."¹⁹ But even

¹⁸ Petition for Review, at p. 17 (emphasis added); RAP 13.4(b)(3).

¹⁹ Hugh Spitzer, *"Home Rule" vs. "Dillon's Rule" for Washington Cities*, 38 Seattle U.L. Rev. 809, 810 and note 5 (2015). The Petition for Review, at p. 18, extensively quotes from Spitzer's note 5 without citation. *See also Lakehaven Water & Sewer Dist. v. City of Fed. Way*, 195 Wn.2d 742, 755-757, 466 P.3d 213, 220-221 (2020) (extensively citing Spitzer with approval).

a cursory review of the relevant constitutional provisions— Article XI, section 10, Article XI, section 11, and Article XI, section 12—reveals that they are primarily concerned with granting extensive powers and authorities *to cities* and other local entities, in a manner consistent with "general law." This is <u>not</u> the same thing as being concerned with granting extensive powers—or even *any* powers—to *mayors*.

Article XI, section 10, does support the principle that municipalities—especially those with more than 10,000 inhabitants—should be afforded some "flexibility" regarding how they organize their internal affairs.²⁰ It states in part as follows:

Cities and towns . . . may become organized under such general laws . . . and shall organize in conformity therewith; and cities or towns . . . shall be subject to and controlled by general laws. Any city containing a population of ten thousand inhabitants, or more, shall be permitted to frame a charter for its own government, consistent with and

²⁰ Spitzer, *"Home Rule,"* 38 Seattle U.L. Rev. at 824 (noting that "article XI, section 10, has resulted in significant flexibility in how cities structure their governments").

subject to the Constitution and laws of this state \dots^{21}

Crucially, however, the "flexibility" granted to cities and towns is granted "under . . . general laws," and "subject to and controlled by general laws."²² Article XI, section 10 clearly lends no support to the proposition that mayors can do whatever they want, regardless of the terms of the Optional Municipal Code.

Neither does either Article XI, section 11 or Article XI, section 12, which respectively grant extensive police powers and fiscal powers and responsibilities to cities and towns.²³ Again, to grant such powers *to cities and towns* is not the same thing as granting such powers to *mayors*. Nor do these provisions in any way suggest that the State Constitution somehow favors granting *contracting* authority to mayors, as opposed to city councils. Therefore, the City and the Mayor's attempt to find in the Court

²¹ Wa. Const. art. XI, § 10. A copy of this entire Section is attached to this Answer in the Appendix.

²² *Id.* The significance of organizational flexibility being controlled by and subject to general laws is made clear below in the discussion of the Optional Municipal Code.

²³ The full text of each of these sections of the Constitution is attached to this Brief in the Appendix.

of Appeals' opinion a "significant question of law under the Constitution" fails.²⁴

3. The City and Mayor's arguments about *statutory* home rule do not identify any error in *Koler* and fail to make a case for discretionary review.

Construed as concerning statutory law, and in particular the Optional Municipal Code, the Petition's arguments about "home rule" fail to identify any error in the Court of Appeals' decision, or any reason for this Court to accept review.

The Optional Municipal Code, like the constitutional provisions on which it is based, is primarily concerned with ensuring that *municipalities* have extensive powers.²⁵ But unlike the Washington constitution, the Optional Municipal Code is <u>not</u> silent as to how powers and authorities are to be distributed within a city government. In particular, it expressly grants the

²⁴ RAP 13.4(b)(3).

²⁵ See, e.g., Lakehaven, 195 Wn.2d at 755 (noting that "[h]ome rule [as expressed in the Optional Municipal Code] grants <u>municipalities</u> the broadest powers of local self-government") (emphasis added). See also RCW § 35A.01.010 (stating that "[t]he purpose and policy of this title is to confer upon *two optional classes of cities* created hereby the broadest powers of local self-government consistent with the Constitution of this state") (emphasis added).

general power to contract *to city councils*, not to mayors, and it does so even in "mayor-council plan" cities.²⁶

The Optional Municipal Code does make one express derogation from the city council's general contracting authority: it states that "[t]he mayor shall have the power of appointment and removal of all appointive officers and employees subject to any applicable law, rule, or regulation relating to civil service."²⁷ However, as the Court of Appeals correctly emphasizes, RCW 35A.12.090 does not itself specify whether the city attorney is an "appointive officer."²⁸

The specification of which are the appointive officers of a city is contained in RCW 35A.12.020, which states in part as follows:

The appointive officers shall be those provided for by charter or ordinance and shall include a city

²⁶ *See* RCW 35A.12.190 (itself part of a chapter dealing with the "mayor-council plan of government") and RCW 35A.11.010. The Petition for Review deserves credit for acknowledging and even emphasizing this point in its Statement of Facts, at pp. 6-7. ²⁷ RCW 35A.12.090.

²⁸ Koler, 501 P.3d at 1212. As discussed in more detail below, this is a crucial difference between RCW 35A.12.190 and RCW 35.27.070, which was central to Division II's decision in *State v. Volkmer*, 73 Wn. App. 89, 867 P.2d 680 (1994).

clerk and a chief law enforcement officer. The office of city clerk may be merged with that of a city treasurer, if any, with an appropriate title designated therefor. *Provision shall be made for obtaining legal counsel for the city, either by appointment of a city attorney on a full-time or part-time basis, or by any reasonable contractual arrangement for such professional services.*²⁹

Read in conjunction with RCW 35A.12.090 and the rest of Title

35A RCW, this language RCW 35A.12.020 compels the result

reached by the Court of Appeals in this case:

[I]f...a city ordinance provides for the appointment of a city attorney, then the mayor has authority to choose the city attorney. If, however, the city council has not made the city attorney an appointive officer, then it is the council who retains the authority to make a 'reasonable contractual arrangement for such professional services ... Because the city council did not, by ordinance, provide that the city attorney is an appointive officer, RCW 35A.12.090 did not confer on Mayor Benson the exclusive authority to contract for legal services.³⁰

Mayor Benson and the City's arguments to the contrary all

fail as a matter of law. One can see this by noting just how hostile

those arguments are to the principles of "home rule" they purport

to defend. "Home rule" is meant to give municipalities some

²⁹ RCW 35A.12.020 (emphasis added).

³⁰ *Koler*, 501 P.3d at 1212-13 (citing to and relying on AGO 1997 No. 7) (emphasis added).

choices about the form of government.³¹ One of those choices, expressly authorized by statute, is that of *either* making the city attorney an appointed officer, *or* procuring city attorney services by reasonable contractual arrangements under the authority of the council. This is the *municipality*'s choice, vested in the city council through its power to enact ordinances. Mayor Benson, however, claims she had the power to make this choice on her own, over the formal objections of the City Council. Mayor Benson would also have this Court affirm her ability to ignore other parts of the BDMC, such as BDMC Chapter 2.08 and BDMC Chapter 2.66, which if given their intended effect, defeat her claim that as of 2017 the City had a history of mayoral appointment to the office of city attorney. This is not municipal self-determination; it is mayoral self-aggrandizement.

Moreover, mayoral self-aggrandizement as practiced on the scale by Mayor Benson in 2017, and as advocated for by her here, is not just some vaguely bad thing, it is deeply antithetical

³¹ See RCW 35A.01.070(5). See also Spitzer, "Home Rule," 38 Seattle U.L. Rev. at 857 (noting that the "Optional Municipal Code . . . gave *cities* several choices regarding form of government") (emphasis added).

to the rule of law. To allow a mayor to exercise city council authority without a clear formal delegation of such authority would create a situation ripe for confusion, conflict and abuse.³² It is not for nothing that the State Legislature, with its own extensive experience with the division of powers and due process in the development of state law, required substantial formalities for ordinances adopted by city councils, including: majority approval, "one subject . . . clearly expressed in its title," presentation to the mayor, and post-enactment publication, authentication by the clerk, and "availab[ility] for inspection by the public at reasonable times and under reasonable conditions."³³ These requirements, like RCW 35A.12.020's requirement to provide for appointed offices "by charter or ordinance," are part of the "general law" constitutionally binding on code cities under Article XI, Section 10. No code city or mayor can legally avoid them.

³² Mayor Benson and the current City Council themselves seem to have recognized this, as shown by their recitals in Ordinance 19-1124. CP 91.

³³ RCW 35A.12.120, RCW 35A.12.130, and RCW 35A.12.150. *Compare* Petition for Review, at p. 22 (objecting to the requirement of "a separate ordinance expressly and specifically establishing . . . the office").

The bottom line is that the State Legislature required that the creation of any appointive office in mayor-council code cities be by "charter or ordinance," with the formalities attendant thereto.³⁴ The Court of Appeals decision to uphold this law is not "hypertechnical."³⁵ Rather, it is a necessary consequence of giving effect to the clear and reasonable legislative intent expressed in the Optional Municipal Code.

For the reasons given above, all of the issues proposed for review by Petitioners were correctly resolved by the Court of Appeals.³⁶ The absence of any error relating to the Court of Appeals' application of the Optional Municipal Code to the facts

³⁴ RCW 35A.12.020. This of course also decisively undermines the Mayor's and City's contention that a city could choose how to acquire legal services through "longstanding custom or practice" not reflected in written law. *Compare* Petition for Review, at pp. 1, 4, 8, and 22.

³⁵ *Compare* Petition for Review, at p. 17. In contrast, one argument that *would* be "hyper-technical" is that code cities do <u>not</u> have to comply with the Optional Municipal Code, because the Optional Municipal Code itself is not listed as part of "the general law" in RCW 35A.01.050. Koler, Glenn, and Bremner submit that it is self-evident that the Optional Municipal Code is part of the "general law" binding on code cities.

³⁶ *Compare* Petition for Review, at pp. 3-5.

of this matter undermines the case for this Court to accept discretionary review.

4. *Koler* does not conflict with any other case by this Court or the Court of Appeals.

Mayor Benson and the City assert that *Koler* conflicts with Division II's opinion in *State v. Volkmer*, 73 Wn. App. 89, 867 P.2d 680 (1994).³⁷ This is incorrect, for at least two reasons. First, *Volkmer* concerned a town organized under Title 35, rather than a code city organized under Title 35A. Its holding was substantially driven by the fact that RCW 35.27.070 expressly endows mayors of towns with the authority to appoint a city attorney.³⁸ As exhaustively established by the Court of Appeals in *Koler*, and was previously well-argued in AGO 1997 No. 7, this is <u>not</u> true under Optional Municipal Code. This disposes of any conflict between *Koler* and *Volkmer* regarding the City Council's authority to contract with Koler and Glenn.

³⁷ Petition for Review, at pp. 25-28.

³⁸ See Volkmer, 73 Wn. App. at 94 (holding on the basis of RCW 35.27.070 that "[c]learly, it is the Mayor to whom the Legislature has granted the express authority to hire legal counsel for the municipality").

Second, as to the City Council's authority to contract with Bremner on behalf of the City, *Koler* and *Volkmer* are distinguishable, rather than in conflict.³⁹ In *Volkmer*, Division II concluded that the alleged underlying illegal activity by the mayor was <u>not</u> in fact illegal.⁴⁰ In *Koler*, for all the reasons set forth in that opinion and re-stated above, the Court of Appeals concluded that Mayor Benson's actions in thwarting the City Council's contracting authority <u>were</u> illegal, and that "the city council *would have prevailed* in the lawsuit initiated by Bremner."⁴¹ This removes any inconsistency between *Koler* and *Volkmer* bearing on the City Council's authority to hire Bremner to sue the Mayor.

Finally, neither *Koler's* statement that "the lawsuit Bremner was hired to initiate was not dismissed on its merits," nor its conditional statement that "the city council *would have prevailed*" had it proceeded to final resolution on the merits,

³⁹ The argument that follows rephrases that in *Koler*, 501 P.3d at 1215-16 (¶¶ 38-40).

⁴⁰ *Volkmer*, 73 Wn. App. at 93-94 (holding that the mayor did not have a nondiscretionary duty to sign all resolutions adopted by the town council).

⁴¹ Koler, 501 P.3d at 1216 (emphasis added).

suffices to warrant review.⁴² It is indisputable that the City Council's case against Mayor Benson was not *actually litigated*. Therefore, Koler, Glenn, and Bremner are not collaterally estopped from bringing their contract claims for attorney's fees.⁴³ If *Koler* had stated that City Council's case was not "actually litigated on its merits", as opposed to "not dismissed on its merits" it would have been clearly correct, and avoided any basis for asserting a conflict with cases holding that a dismissal with prejudice is a final judgment on the merits. As for *Koler's*

⁴² *Koler*, P.3d at 1215-16 (emphasis added). *Compare* Petition for Review, at p. 24 and pp. 27-28.

⁴³ See, e.g., Christensen v. Grant Cty. Hosp. Dist. No. 1, 152 Wn.2d 299, 307, 96 P.3d 957, 961 (2004) (noting that "[c]ollateral estoppel may be applied to preclude only those issues that have *actually been litigated*," and that "the party [estopped] . . . must have had *a full and fair opportunity to litigate* the issue in the earlier proceeding") (emphasis added). See also Marquardt v. Fed. Old Line Ins. Co. (Mut.), 33 Wn. App. 685, 689, 658 P.2d 20, 23 (1983) (noting that "collateral estoppel should not be applied to judgments of dismissal, even when based on settlement agreements, since the parties could settle for myriad reasons not related to the resolution of the issues they are litigating"), and 14A Wash. Prac., Civil Procedure § 35:34 (3d ed.). Since Bremner had withdrawn prior to the dismissal, collateral estoppel also fails for lack of privity. CP 546-47.

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